THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Heath P. Taylor, Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2023-CP-18-00836
App No.: 2024-001811

RECEIVED

May 15 2025

SC Court of Appeals

Devan Chokshi, Individually and as Personal
Representative of the Estate of Freni Hazare,
Deceased, Vatsal Chokshi, Individually and
as Personal Representative of the Estate of
Dhruv Chokshi, Deceased, Respondents,

v.

BIF-Summerville Station, LLC, PAC-
Summerville, LLC, Beach Investment Fund,
L.P., Beach Real Estate Funds, LLC, Beach
Co., Lincoln BP Management, Inc., Lincoln
Property Company National LLC, John/Mary

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Circuit Court erred in finding that the valid Jury Waiver Provision within the Lease Agreement did not apply to the claims of Devan Chokshi as Personal Representative of the Estate of Freni Hazare where a Personal Representative asserts the claims of the deceased rather than individual claims of their own.
2. Whether the Circuit Court erred in finding that the valid Jury Waiver Provision did not apply to the Underlying Lawsuit in its entirety despite its plain language stating that it applies to “any lawsuit” involving the parties to the Lease Agreement.
3. Whether the Circuit Court erred in finding that the valid Jury Waiver Provision did not apply to the claims of Decedent Dhruv Chokshi where Appellant invoked the benefits of the Lease Agreement by alleging causes of action based upon the Lease Agreement.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from a wrongful death case initially filed by the Personal Representatives of the Estate of Freni Hazare and Dhruv Chokshi (“Respondents”) in May 2023. Respondents allege claims based upon a September 29, 2022, fire at the Summerville Station Apartments in Summerville, South Carolina, that claimed the lives of Hazare and Chokshi (“Decedents”). As amended, Respondents allege *inter alia* a cause of action against BIF-Summerville Station, LLC, and PAC-Summerville, LLC (“Appellants”) for violations of the South Carolina Residential Landlord Tenant Act (“SCRLTA”) (*See R.* at pp. 70-100); (*R.* at pp. 17, 26-28). On February 6, 2024, Appellants filed a motion to strike Respondents’ jury demand based upon a lease agreement signed by Hazare that contained a jury waiver provision. On May 28, 2024, the Circuit Court denied the motion and entered a Form 4 Order which provided the following:

This matter is before the Court on a motion to strike the Plaintiffs demand for a jury trial. Dhruv Chokshi was not a party to the lease agreement upon which the motion is based. Accordingly, his personal representative, Vatsal Chokshi, cannot be deemed to have waived the right to a jury trial. While Freni Hazare did sign the lease agreement, the lease agreement is devoid of any language indicating the document is binding on the personal representative, heirs, successors or assigns of Frenzi Hazare. Therefore, Devan Choshi, as personal representative of Freni Hazare, is likewise not a party to the lease agreement. The motion to strike jury demand is hereby denied. *See, North Charleston Joint Venture v. Kitchens of Island Fudge Shoppe, Inc., 307 S.C. 533, 416 S.E.2d 637 (1992) (holding nonparties to a lease agreement were not subject to jury waiver provisions in the lease agreement).*

(*R.* at p. 1)

On June 7, 2024, Appellants filed a Motion to Alter or Amend the Court’s May 28, 2024, Order Denying Appellants’ Motion to Strike. (*R.* at pp. 31-40). Appellants sought reconsideration on the grounds that “(1) the Jury Waiver Provision is enforceable at least as to Decedent Freni Hazare; (2) Plaintiff Devan Chokshi, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Freni Hazare, is bound by the Jury Waiver Provision; (3) the Jury Waiver Provision applies to the instant lawsuit

in its entirety; and (4) Plaintiff Vatsal Chokshi, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Dhruv Chokshi, invoked the Jury Waiver Provision by alleging claims under the South Carolina Residential Landlord and Tenant Act.” (R. at p. 1). On October 4, 2024, the Circuit Court filed a Form 4 Order which provided the following:

This matter is before the Court on Defendants BIF-Summerville Station, LLC and PAC-Summerville, LLC’s motion to alter or amend the Court’s May 28, 2024 order denying their motion to strike. The Court’s prior order as to Dhruv Chokshi and Vatsal Chokshi remains unchanged. The Court’s prior order with regard to Devan Chokshi and Freni Hazare is hereby amended as follows: While Freni Hazare did sign the lease agreement which contains a facially valid jury trial waiver, the lease agreement is devoid of any language indicating the document is binding on the personal representative, heirs, successors or assigns of Freni Hazare. Conversely, paragraph 1 of the lease agreement specifically provides that the lease agreement applies to the successors’ in interest or assigns of the owners. Had the drafter of the agreement intended the agreement to survive the death of Ms. Hazare, it certainly could have included language to that effect.

See, *Kelly v. McCombs*, 2019 WL 4052491 (S.C. Ct. App. 2019). Therefore, Devan Chokshi, as personal representative of Freni Hazare, is not a party to the lease agreement. The motion to strike jury demand remains denied. See, *North Charleston Joint Venture v. Kitchen of Island Fudge Shoppe, Inc.*, 307 S.C. 533, 416 S.E.2d 637 (1992) (holding nonparties to a lease agreement were not subject to jury waiver provisions in the lease agreement).

(R. at pp. 4-5).

On October 24, 2024, Appellants timely filed its Notice of Appeal of the Circuit Court’s Order. Appellants received a copy of the transcript for the May 6, 2024 hearing on December 16, 2024. On January 16, 2025, Appellants timely filed its Initial Brief.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

As Hurricane Ian approached South Carolina’s Lowcountry on September 29, 2022, a fire broke out at the Summerville Station Apartment Complex (“Summerville Station”) in Summerville, South Carolina. (R. at pp. 70-100). The cause of the fire is unknown but it is believed to have started somewhere at or within Building B. (R. at p. 37). Decedents Freni Hazare and Dhruv Chokshi resided in Unit B-16, which was a second-floor unit in Building B. (R. at p. 75). Tragically, both Hazare and Chokshi perished in the fire. Respondents are the Personal Representatives of the Estates of the Decedents and filed a lawsuit against Appellants - who are the owners and operators of Summerville Station – as well as several other defendants alleging *inter alia* that “[a]t the heart of this matter is the Defendants’ . . . [failure] to properly manage, maintain and repair the SUMMERVILLE STATION apartment complex . . .” (R. at p.71 (capitalization in original)).

It is not entirely clear how long Decedents had resided at Summerville Station prior to the fire, but it is understood that Decedents were already residents of Summerville Station when Appellants purchased the property in December 2020. Hazare renewed her lease annually and had most recently renewed her lease in July 2022. (R. at pp. 130-166). Hazare’s agreement with Appellants dated July 7, 2022 (“Lease Agreement”) was in effect at the time of the subject fire. (R. at pp. 130-166). Dhruv Chokshi, who was a minor at the time, is not listed on the Lease Agreement as a tenant, resident, occupant, or guest. The Lease Agreement contained a “jury waiver” provision that states:

Waiver of Jury Trial. To minimize legal expenses and, to the extent allowed by law, you and we agree that a trial of any lawsuit based on statute common law, and/or related to this Lease Contract shall be to a judge and not a jury.

(R. at p. 135) (“Jury Waiver Provision”).

Appellants filed a motion to strike the Plaintiff’s jury demand based upon the language of the Lease Agreement and its jury waiver provision. It is undisputed that Hazare signed the Lease Agreement and was, therefore, bound by its terms. (R. at p. 4) (*See* R. at p. 24). Respondents disputed, however, that Hazare’s Personal Representative was bound by the Lease Agreement because he did not sign it himself. Chokshi’s Personal Representative likewise argued that neither Chokshi nor his Personal Representative were signatories to the Lease Agreement. The Circuit Court correctly noted that the jury waiver provision was facially valid but did not enforce it against Respondents despite that finding. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Whether a party is entitled to a jury trial is a question of law.” *Verenes v. Alvanos*, 387 S.C. 11, 15, 690 S.E.2d 771, 772 (2010) (citing *Mims Amusement Co. v. S.C. Law Enforcement Div.*, 366 S.C. 141, 145, 621 S.E.2d 344, 345–46 (2005)) (See also Rule 38, SCRCPP; *Zurich Am. Ins. Co. of Illinois v. Palmetto Cont. Servs., Inc.*, 434 S.C. 104, 109, 862 S.E.2d 714, 716 (Ct. App. 2021)). Likewise, “[w]hether a contract is ... unenforceable is generally a question of law for the court.” *Fay v. Total Quality Logistics, LLC*, 419 S.C. 622, 629, 799 S.E.2d 318, 322 (Ct. App. 2017) (quoting *Milliken & Co. v. Morin*, 399 S.C. 23, 30, 731 S.E.2d 288, 291 (2012)). The Court of Appeals “reviews questions of law de novo.” *Flexon v. PHC-Jasper, Inc.*, 413 S.C. 561, 569–70, 776 S.E.2d 397, 402 (Ct. App. 2015) (quoting *Proctor v. Steedley*, 398 S.C. 561, 573, 730 S.E.2d 357, 363 (Ct. App. 2012)). “In other words, a reviewing court is free to decide questions of law with no particular deference to the trial court.” *Id.* (quoting *Proctor*, 398 S.C. at 573, 730 S.E.2d at 363).

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court Erred by Finding that Devan Chokshi Was Not Bound by the Lease Agreement as the Personal Representative of Freni Hazari Because a Personal Representative Stands in the Shoes of Decedent.

A personal representative of an estate is “[s]omeone who manages the legal affairs of another because of incapacity or death, such as the executor of an estate.” Personal Representative, Black’s Law Dictionary (12th ed. 2024). Under South Carolina law, a personal representative “stands in the shoes” of the decedent whose estate they represent. *Carson v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 400 S.C. 221, 242–43, 734 S.E.2d 148, 159 (2012); *see also* S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-703(c). Under this framework, South Carolina law permits a representative of a deceased person to litigate claims that a decedent would have had the right to assert had they not passed away. *See gen. Hughes on behalf of Est. of Hughes v. Bank of Am. Nat’l Ass’n*, 442 S.C. 113, 123, 898 S.E.2d 102, 107 (2024). A personal representative is not a mere heir, successor, or an assignee of the decedent; the personal representative, for purposes of standing, *is* the decedent. The Circuit Court committed an error of law by ignoring this principle and holding that Respondents were not bound by the contracts of the Decedents.

It is undisputed that Decedent Freni Hazare was a party to the Lease Agreement and that Lease Agreement contained “a facially valid jury waiver.” (R. at p. 4); (*See* R. at p. 24). Therefore, had she lived, it cannot be argued that Decedent Freni Hazare would be able to seek a jury trial against Appellants. Respondents instead argued, and the Circuit Court agreed, that Respondent Devan Chokshi is not a party to the Lease Agreement because he himself did not sign it and the Lease Agreement does not state that it is not binding upon Decedent Hazare’s personal representatives, heirs, successors, or assigns. (R. at pp. 4-5). In so holding, the Circuit Court disregarded the legal distinctions afforded to personal representatives and conflates Respondents’

status with that of a mere heir or successor.

By asserting claims as the Personal Representative of the Estate of Freni Hazare, Respondent Devan Chokshi assumed all rights and limitations that Hazare would have had if she had filed the lawsuit herself. This assumption is statutorily defined and encompasses the longstanding framework of estate claims. S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-703(c) (“a personal representative . . . has the same standing to sue and be sued in the courts of this State and the courts of any other jurisdiction as his decedent had immediately prior to death.”). The rights of the personal representative are the same as the decedent’s – not less and not more. Indeed, the scope of a personal representative’s rights are defined by more than a century of South Carolina case law. In *Reed v. Northeastern R. Co.*, 37 S.C. 42, 16 S.E. 289 (1892), the South Carolina Supreme Court addressed the issue of survivor’s claims under the Wrongful Death Act and held “[a]nything that would have defeated his recovery would defeat that in behalf of his family in case he failed to survive.” The Hon. Joseph Anderson then affirmed this principle and held “[o]ur jurisprudence makes clear that if the decedent was barred from recovering damages for his injuries, the bar passes to the decedent's estate.” *Quattlebaum v. Carey Canada, Inc.*, 685 F. Supp. 939, 942 (D.S.C. 1988). The South Carolina Supreme Court more recently upheld this principle in *Est. of Stokes ex rel. Spell v. Pee Dee Fam. Physicians, L.L.P.*, where it favorably cited Judge Anderson’s ruling. 389 S.C. 343, 348, 699 S.E.2d 143, 145 (2010). Citing *Quattlebaum*, our Supreme Court noted that “anything that would have defeated the decedent’s recovery,” including limitations “such as contributory negligence, a valid release, or similar acts on his part.” *Id.*, at 349, 699 S.E.2d 146. Applying these holdings, South Carolina law does not allow a personal representative to have greater rights to a jury trial than the decedent would have had.

On the other hand, Respondents and the Circuit Court relied upon *North Charleston Joint*

Venture v. Kitchen of Island Fudge Shoppe, Inc., 307 S.C. 533, 416 S.E.2d 637 (1992) for the prospect that only signatories to a lease agreement may be bound by jury waivers. (*See gen. R.* at pp. 4-5); (*See gen. R.* at pp. 17-30). Their reliance upon *North Charleston Joint Venture* is out of place, however, because it does not address personal representatives or their standing to sue. In that case, the Supreme Court held that guarantors of a lease agreement could not be bound by the agreement’s jury waiver provision because they were not parties to the agreement itself. Whereas personal representatives derive their right to sue from the decedent themselves, a guarantor’s relationship arises from separate but related contracts with the debtor. *Citizens & S. Nat. Bank of S.C. v. Lanford*, 313 S.C. 540, 544, 443 S.E.2d 549, 551 (1994) (a guaranty of payment is an obligation separate and distinct from the original note). This contrasts with the law governing personal representatives, where claims are asserted on behalf of the estate itself. *Fisher on behalf of estate of Shaw-Baker v. Huckabee*, 422 S.C. 234, 238, 811 S.E.2d 739, 741 (2018). Respondent is not a guarantor of Decedent Hazare, he has asserted the claims in this lawsuit through his status as the personal representative of Hazare’s estate and must therefore be held to the same standards that Hazare would be held if she asserted them herself. Since Hazare would be barred from seeking a jury trial in a lawsuit against Appellants, her personal representative must also be barred.

As an additional basis for binding Respondent, our courts have long recognized that “all contracts which are capable of being enforced against a decedent in his lifetime may be enforced against his estate.” *Thompson v. Hudgens*, 161 S.C. 450, 159 S.E. 807, 817 (1931); *see also* S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-201 (defining “claims” with respect to estates as including contracts).¹ Similarly, the notion that a waiver must specify that it is binding upon personal representatives has been rejected by multiple courts in this state as well. *See, e.g., THI of S.C. at Columbia, LLC*,

¹ It should be noted that contract-based causes of action survived death even at common law. *Hughes*, 442 S.C. at 123, 898 S.E.2d at 107 (citing *Page v. Lewis*, 203 S.C. 190, 193, 26 S.E.2d 569, 570 (1943)).

2011 WL 4089435 (2011) (Currie, J.); *Cox v. Duke Energy, Inc.*, 176 F. Supp. 3d 530 (D.S.C. 2016), *aff'd*, 876 F.3d 625 (4th Cir. 2017). The Lease Agreement need not spell out that it is binding upon personal representatives in order to have that effect. In *Cox*, Judge Bruce Hendricks rejected this very argument and held that a personal representative “is bound in [his] capacity as personal representative if [Decedent] would have been bound immediately prior to his death.” 176 F. Supp. 3d at 542.

It is well established that “South Carolina law allows parties to contractually waive the right to jury trial.” *Skywaves I Corp. v. Branch Banking & Tr. Co.*, 423 S.C. 432, 447, 814 S.E.2d 643, 651 (Ct. App. 2018) (*See also Banks v. Frith*, 97 S.C. 362, 81 S.E. 677 (1914); *Hodges Concrete Prods., Inc. v. Fletcher*, 284 S.C. 191, 193, 324 S.E.2d 343, 344 (Ct. App. 1984); *Southern Railway Company v. Surety Insurance Company of Greenville*, 249 S.C. 407, 154 S.E.2d 561 (1967)). It is equally well established that a personal representative’s right to sue is measured by the rights of the decedent. Because Decedent Hazare was bound by the terms of the Lease Agreement to its terms, including the Jury Waiver Provision, so too is her personal representative who asserts claims on behalf of her estate.

II. The Scope of the Jury Waiver Provision Applies to the “Case” in its Entirety.

The Circuit Court erred by declining to enforce the Jury Waiver Provision not only to the claims of Decedent Hazare but also to the underlying lawsuit in full. The Jury Waiver Provision states that “**any lawsuit** . . . shall be to a judge and not a jury.” (R. at pp. 135 (emphasis added)). The Jury Waiver Provision is not limited to specific causes of action or to any parties and instead states plainly that it governs the lawsuit between the parties. While courts will strictly construe the terms of waivers and limitations of liability provisions, courts will nonetheless uphold valid contracts by the plain language of their terms. *E.g. Maybank v. BB&T Corp.*, 416 S.C. 541, 576,

787 S.E.2d 498, 516 (2016). As noted above, the Circuit Court found that the Jury Waiver Provision itself is valid. The plain language of the provision leaves no room for interpretation – the trial any lawsuit to which the Lease Agreement applies must be a nonjury trial.

The use of the term “any lawsuit” in the Lease Agreement encompasses the entirety of the action and not individual claims or issues. The word “lawsuit” may generally be used interchangeably with the terms “action” or “case.” *See* Lawsuit, Black’s Law Dictionary (12th ed. 2024). On the other hand, words such as “issue” and “claims” are generally understood to be mere parts of a larger lawsuit, action, or case. *See, e.g., Bennett v. Est. of King*, 436 S.C. 614, 621 n. 6, 875 S.E.2d 46, 50 n.6 (2022), (noting that petition raised “multiple issues” in a single appeal); *James v. Kelly Trucking Co.*, 377 S.C. 628, 634, 661 S.E.2d 329, 332 (2008) (“A plaintiff may, in a single lawsuit, assert many causes of action against a defendant.”); *Burnsed v. Greene*, 291 S.C. 59, 60–61, 351 S.E.2d 910, 911–12 (Ct. App. 1986) (“[T]he parties are permitted to join as independent or alternate claims as many claims as they have against the opposing party in a single lawsuit.”). Because the Jury Waiver Provision applies to “any lawsuit” in which it can properly be invoked and not mere portions of the lawsuit, it must necessarily be enforced to the underlying lawsuit as a whole and not merely individual parties or claims.²

III. The Circuit Court Committed an Error of Law by Finding Decedent Dhruv Chokshi Was Not Bound by the Terms of the Lease Agreement Because He Invoked the Lease Agreement’s Benefits by Landlord-Tenant Claims.

Decedent Dhruv Chokshi was not identified as a tenant in the Lease Agreement, but “a party may not rely on the contract when it works to its advantage, and repudiate it when it works to its disadvantage.” *Dixon v. Pattee*, 442 S.C. 233, 258, 898 S.E.2d 158, 171 (Ct. App. 2023) (citation omitted). The Circuit Court erred by allowing Respondent Vatsal Chokshi to circumvent

² Appellants also note that no other parties have opposed or objected to Appellants’ position.

the Lease Agreement's Jury Waiver Provision while simultaneously claiming status as a tenant and asserting claims under the SCRLTA. A party does not have standing to sue under the SCRLTA absent a rental agreement. S.C. Code Ann. § 27-4-210; *see also Watson v. Sellers*, 299 S.C. 426, 385 S.E.2d 369 (Ct. App. 1989) (holding the SCRLTA creates a cause of action for duties owed by the landlord to the tenant).³ While Decedent Chokshi was a nonsignatory to the Lease Agreement, Respondent Vastal Chokshi affirmatively invoked the Lease Agreement by filing the underlying lawsuit against Appellants and claiming Decedent Chokshi had status as a tenant under the SCRLTA.⁴

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