**RECEIVED**

**Mar 20 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Heath P. Taylor  
Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-001811

---

Devan Chokshi, Individually and  
as Personal Representative of the  
Estate of Freni Hazare, Deceased;  
Vatsal Chokshi, Individually and  
as Personal Representative of the  
Estate of Dhruv Chokshi, Deceased, Respondents,

v.

BIF-Summerville Station, LLC;  
PAC-Summerville, LLC;  
Beach Investment Fund, L.P.;  
Beach Real Estate Funds, LLC;  
Lincoln BP Management, Inc.;  
Lincoln Property Company National, LLC;

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

### ARGUMENT

“The South Carolina Constitution provides that ‘[t]he right of trial by jury shall be preserved inviolate.’” *Wells Fargo Bank, NA v. Smith*, 398 S.C. 487, 493, 730 S.E.2d 328, 331 (Ct. App. 2012) (quoting S.C. Const. art. I, § 14). “The right to a trial by jury is guaranteed in every case in which the right to a jury was secured at the time of the adoption of the Constitution in 1868.” *Mims Amusement Co. v. S.C. Law Enforcement Div.*, 366 S.C. 141, 149, 621 S.E.2d 344, 348 (2005) (citation omitted).

This Court should AFFIRM the Circuit Court’s ruling preserving the right to a jury trial because (I) Devan Chokshi and Vatsal Chokshi, as non-parties and non-signatories, are not bound by the Lease Agreement; (II) The scope of the Jury Waiver Provision cannot apply to the “case” in its entirety because the majority of Defendants are neither signatories nor third-party beneficiaries to the Lease Agreement; (III) Decedent Dhruv Chokshi, a deceased minor who never signed the

Lease, is not bound by its terms, and Respondents did not “invoke the Lease Agreement's benefits” by asserting claims against the Landlord. As an additional sustaining ground, the Circuit Court's decision should be affirmed because Defendants failed to timely file their Motion to Strike under Rule 12, SCRPC, having waived this defense by not raising it with their initial responsive pleading.

**I. Devan Chokshi and Vatsal Chokshi are Not Bound by the Lease Agreement as they are Not Signatories of the Lease Agreement.**

Under well-established South Carolina law, non-signatories to a lease agreement are not bound by that agreement. In *N. Charleston Joint Venture*, a landlord sued its tenant for past-due rent and joined tenant’s guarantors to the lawsuit. *N. Charleston Joint Venture v. Kitchens of Island Fudge Shoppe, Inc.*, 307 S.C. 533, 534, 416 S.E.2d 637, 638 (1992). The guarantors counterclaimed and requested a jury trial. *Id.* As was the case here, the landlord moved to strike the jury demand on the grounds that the lease contained a jury waiver provision. *Id.* Nevertheless, the South Carolina Supreme Court held that the “[g]uarantors, not being parties to the waiver clause, are entitled to a jury trial.” *Id.* The Court stated:

Trial by jury is a substantial right and any waiver thereof must be *strictly construed*. Here, the waiver clause, by its express terms, is applicable *only* to Landlord and Tenant. Although the guaranty was incorporated by reference into the lease contract, Guarantors were not parties to the lease nor were they named in the waiver clause.

*Id.* (emphasis added). The rule set forth by the Supreme Court is clear – jury waivers are only enforceable against the actual parties to the lease. *See also Anderson Bros. Bank v. Adams*, 305 S.C. 25, 28, 406 S.E.2d 173, 175 (1991) (holding that waiver of right to appraisal contained in mortgage did not bind guarantors of the borrower because “boilerplate language, inserted by Bank, at the end of a mortgage signed only by Debtors, is not binding upon Guarantors”). Appellants’ argument that *North Charleston Joint Venture* is inapplicable because it addresses guarantors rather than personal representatives is misplaced. The fundamental principle established by the South

Carolina Supreme Court is that jury waivers must be “strictly construed” and are enforceable only against the actual parties to the agreement.

This central holding of *N. Charleston Joint Venture* has since been reaffirmed by the South Carolina Supreme Court. In *Broome v. Watts*, two individuals involved in an automobile accident entered into a settlement agreement where the parties would conduct a trial for the sole purpose of determining the liability of various insurers. *Broome v. Watts*, 319 S.C. 337, 338, 461 S.E.2d 46, 47 (1995). As part of the settlement, the defendant waived her right to a jury trial. *Id.*, 319 S.C. at 338, 461 S.E.2d at 47. After the trial, the plaintiffs filed suit against an insurance company, USAA, to recover on their underinsured motorist coverage. *Id.* USAA, who was not party to the agreement, claimed that it was entitled to invoke the Jury waiver provision because, as the UIM carrier, its contract with the original defendant allowed it “to defend ‘in the name of the underinsured motorist’” and “step[] into the shoes’ of the underinsured motorist.” *Id.*, 319 S.C. at 340, 461 S.E.2d at 48. **The Supreme Court expressly rejected USAA’s argument**, and extended *N. Charleston Joint Venture*’s holding, by saying USAA could not invoke the jury waiver as doing so would “blur[] the distinction between the named defendant (Watts),” who was a party to the agreement thus waiving her right to a jury trial, and “the actual defendant (USAA),” who was not. *Id.*

Here, the Circuit Court correctly determined Freni Hazare alone was a signatory to this Lease Agreement. (Order, R. \_\_; Lease, R. \_\_). Section 1 of the Lease Agreement clearly defines the parties bound by the agreement, stating that “The terms ‘you’ and ‘your’ refer to all residents listed above” – which only includes Freni Hazare. (R. \_\_). However, Ms. Hazare is now deceased and is not a party to this lawsuit. Ms. Hazare’s adult son, Devan Chokshi, who *is* a party/plaintiff to this lawsuit, *never* signed the Lease Agreement containing the Jury Waiver Provision. As *N.*

*Charleston Joint Venture* holds, Devan Chokshi, a non-signatory to this Lease Agreement, cannot be bound by the Jury Waiver Provision as “[t]rial by jury is a substantial right and any waiver thereof must be strictly construed.” *N. Charleston Joint Venture*, 307 S.C. at 535, 416 S.E.2d at 638.<sup>1</sup>

Significantly, the Lease Agreement demonstrates through its asymmetrical language that the drafters knew precisely how to bind non-signatories when they intended to do so. While Section 1 of the Lease Agreement explicitly extends to “owner’s successors in interest or assigns,” it contains no similar provision extending the agreement to the tenant’s heirs, representatives, or estate. (R. \_\_). This deliberate asymmetry in the contract language cannot be dismissed as accidental in what is clearly a thoroughly drafted form contract. The principle of *expressio unius est exclusio alterius* (the expression of one thing implies the exclusion of other) compels the conclusion that this omission was deliberate—the drafters knew how to bind successors but chose not to do so for tenant’s representatives. “[T]he maxim ‘Expressio unius est exclusio alterius’ is defined as: ‘When certain persons or things are specified in a law, contract, or will, an intention to exclude all others from its operation may be inferred.’” *Evins v. Richland Cty. Historic Pres.*

---

<sup>1</sup> *THI of S.C. at Columbia, LLC v. Wiggins*, 2011 WL 4089435, at \*5 (D.S.C. Sept. 13, 2011), cited by Appellants (Appellants’ Br. at 4), is distinguishable both because it involved an arbitration provision and because the personal representative in that case *had in fact* signed the contract as a “Fiduciary Party”. Other cases cited by Appellants focus on whether the personal representative can bring certain claims, and not whether the representative is entitled to a specific procedural right, such as a jury trial. *See Est. of Stokes ex rel. Spell v. Pee Dee Family Physicians, LLP*, 699 S.E.2d 143, 145–46, 389 S.C. 343, 348–49 (2010) (holding personal representative cannot recover under a wrongful death action because the claim was barred by statute of limitations); *Quattlebaum v. Carey Canada, Inc.*, 685 F. Supp. 939, 942 (D.S.C. 1988) (holding personal representative cannot recover under wrongful death action because the claim was barred by statute of limitations); *Cox v. Duke Energy, Inc.*, 176 F. Supp.3d 530, 542 (D.S.C. 2016), *aff’d*, 876 F.3d 625 (4th Cir. 2017) (barring personal representative from suing police department in connection with decedent’s arrest because decedent had signed release that he would not sue the department).

*Comm'n*, 341 S.C. 15, 19, 532 S.E.2d 876, 878 (2000) (quoting *Little v. Town of Conway*, 171 S.C. 27, 31, 171 S.E. 447, 448 (1933)); *See also Atlanta Skin & Cancer Clinic, P.C. v. Hallmark Gen. Partners, Inc.*, 320 S.C. 113, 119, 463 S.E.2d 600, 604 (1995) (stating the rule “expressio unius est exclusio alterius” means the “enumeration of particular things excludes [the] idea of something else not mentioned.”).

Further, the jury waiver at issue in Section 39 provides that “**you and we** agree that a trial of any lawsuit based on statute common law, and/or related to this Lease Contract shall be to a judge and not a jury.” (R. \_\_\_). The terms “you and we” are explicitly defined in Section 1 as referring only to the named resident (Freni Hazare) and the property owner, reinforcing that the waiver was intended to bind only the actual signatories to the agreement. (R. \_\_\_). Had the drafters intended this provision to bind representatives or heirs, they would have included explicit language to that effect, as they did elsewhere in the agreement for the owner’s successors.

Additionally, Section 32 of the Lease Contract explicitly states: “Neither we nor any of our representatives have made any oral promises, representations, or agreements. This Lease Contract is the entire agreement between you and us.” (R. \_\_\_). This provision reinforces that the agreement is strictly between the named parties. When read together with the definitions in Section 1, this language establishes that the contract – including the jury waiver – was personal to the signatories and not intended to bind the non-signatory personal representatives of a deceased tenant. Further, under *N. Charleston Joint Venture* and the progeny of cases affirming its holding, it is likewise indisputable that the Lease Agreement cannot be held to bind neither the decedent Dhruv Chokshi (who was a minor that did not – and legally could not – sign the Lease Agreement), nor his personal representative, Vatsal Chokshi.

Appellants nevertheless argue that “South Carolina law allows parties to contractually waive the right to jury trial.” (App. Br. at 4). However, each of the cases relied upon by Appellants are wholly distinguishable because they involve situations where the party against whom the motion to strike the jury demand is levied is *a signatory* of the agreement with the waiver provision, or is *a party* agreeing to forgo trial by jury. See *Skywaves I Corp. v. Branch Banking & Tr. Co.*, 423 S.C. 432, 440, 814 S.E.2d 643, 647 (Ct. App. 2018) (“Skywaves entered into a factoring agreement . . . The agreement stated in bold writing, immediately prior to the signature page, Skywaves waived its right to trial by jury . . . .” (quotation omitted)); see also *Banks v. Frith*, 97 S.C. 362, 81 S.E. 677, 680 (1914) (Gage, J. dissenting) (“The *parties* waive trial by jury, as *they* have a right to do so.” (emphasis added)); *Southern Ry. Co. v. Surety Ins. Co. of Greenville*, 249 S.C. 407, 413, 154 S.E.2d 561, 564 (1967) (“*Both parties having assented* to the discharge of the jury, neither has standing here to complain that issues of fact were not submitted to it.” (emphasis added)). Here, Respondents are neither a signatory nor a party agreeing to forgo the right to a trial by jury.

The only names on the lease are (1) Freni Hazare, (2) BIF-Summerville Station, LLC, and (3) PAC-Summerville, LLC. Thus, the Respondents in this case – Vatsal Chokshi and Devan Chokshi – are not signatories to the Lease Agreement and are not bound by its jury waiver provision. This argument applies with particular force in the case of Respondent Vatsal Chokshi, the personal representative and father of Dhruv Chokshi. Dhruv Chokshi was not a signatory to the lease, and because the plain terms of the jury waiver provision do not identify him as a covered

party,<sup>2</sup> Vatsal Chokshi’s representative claim on Dhruv’s behalf is plainly not subject to the jury waiver provision under *N. Charleston Joint Venture*. See also *Johnston-Gebre v. IH4 Prop. Fla., L.P.*, 2023 WL 6443096, at \*4 (S.D. Fla. Oct. 2, 2023) (“If the parties to the lease agreement intended for the jury waiver provision to cover claims brought by the ‘Resident Parties’ and not just a ‘Resident,’ the lease should have so stated. Thus, the plain language of the contract does not extend the jury waiver [beyond the Resident]).

Therefore, the jury demand must stand in accordance with the South Carolina Supreme Court’s previous decisions in *N. Charleston Joint Venture* and its progeny, as Respondents are entitled to the “substantial right” of trial by jury because (1) “any waiver thereof must be strictly construed,” (2) the Respondents are not signatories to the Lease Agreement containing the Jury Waiver Provision, and (3) “you and we” cannot be construed to incorporate either Respondent as non-parties to the lease. See *N. Charleston Join Venture*, 307 S.C. at 535, 416 S.E.2d at 638; see also *Anderson Bros. Bank*, 305 S.C. at 28, 406 S.E.2d at 175.

## **II. The Scope of the Jury Waiver Cannot Apply to the “Case” in its Entirety.**

The Jury Waiver Provision cannot apply to the “Case” in its entirety because (A) a majority of the Defendants are neither signatories to the Lease Agreement nor third-party beneficiaries and

---

<sup>2</sup> The lease agreement contains no reference to Freni Hazare’s children, and no provision addressing other potential residents of the apartment. A section asking the parties to “list all other occupants not signing the Lease Contract” is blank. (R. \_\_\_). Thus, even if Freni Hazare signed the lease agreement with the intent to reside there with Dhruv Chokshi, there is nothing in the lease agreement indicating the jury waiver provision binds Dhruv. See, generally, *Parks v. Lyons*, 219 S.C. 40, 48, 64 S.E.2d 123, 126 (1951) (“The contract, so far as the plaintiff was concerned, since he was a minor, was *voidable* at his election, although it was fully binding upon the defendants . . .”).

(B) the Jury Waiver Provision clearly was not intended to encompass the tragic fire, and decedents' deaths, at issue in this case.

**A. A Majority of the Defendants are Neither Signatories Nor Third-Party Beneficiaries of the Lease Agreement, thus the Jury Waiver Provision Cannot Apply.**

The request to strike the jury demand in this case is brought by Appellants BIF-Summerville Station, LLC and PAC-Summerville, LLC. The remaining Defendants in this case – The Beach Co., Beach Company, Inc., Beach Investment Fund, L.P., Beach Real Estate Funds, LLC (collectively, “Beach Defendants”), Lincoln BP Management, Inc., and Lincoln Property Company National, LLC (collectively, “Lincoln Defendants”) – do not, and cannot, invoke the Jury Waiver Provision in this case.<sup>3</sup>

“The cardinal rule of contract interpretation is to ascertain and give legal effect to the parties’ intentions as determined by the contract language.” *See Schulmeyer v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 353 S.C. 491, 495, 579 S.E.2d 132, 134 (2003); *McGill v. Moore*, 381 S.C. 179, 185, 672 S.E.2d 571, 574 (2009). Here, it is undisputed that the Beach Defendants and the Lincoln Defendants and other recently added Defendants are not parties to the Lease Agreement.<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>3</sup> Four additional Defendants have since been added to the case. (R. \_\_\_; 4th Am. Compl.).

<sup>4</sup> *See, e.g., Paracor Fin., Inc. v. Gen. Elec. Cap. Corp.*, 96 F.3d 1151, 1166 (9th Cir. 1996) (“The Investors again argue that the defendants cannot invoke the jury waiver clause because they were not parties to the Purchase Agreement. As with the choice-of-law clause, a jury waiver is a contractual right and generally may not be invoked by one who is not a party to the contract. And, as with the choice-of-law clause, ordinary contract and agency principles do not provide GE Capital or Burton with standing to invoke the jury waiver. . . .Therefore, we reverse the order waiving jury trial.”); *Barnello v. Bayview Loan Servicing, LLC*, 2016 WL 11565618, at \*3 (M.D. Fla. Mar. 15, 2016) (“Defendant is not a party to the Mortgage, has not otherwise shown that it should stand in the shoes of the holder of the note and Mortgage, and has not, as noted above, established that it is an intended beneficiary of the Mortgage agreement. Thus, as a non-party to or beneficiary of the contract, Defendant has not established that it has a right to enforce the jury trial waiver, and the Motion to Strike will be denied.”); *Brown & Brown, Inc. v. Cola*, 2011 WL

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